# Potential Eradication and Control Methods for the Management of the Ascidian Didemnum perlucidum in Western Australia

Julieta Muñoz and Justin McDonald



Government of Western Australia Department of Fisheries

**Fisheries Research Division** Western Australian Fisheries and Marine Research Laboratories PO Box 20 NORTH BEACH, Western Australia 6920

Fish for the future

#### **Correct citation:**

Muñoz, J. and McDonald, J. 2014. Potential Eradication and Control Methods for the Management of the Ascidian *Didemnum perlucidum* in Western Australia. Fisheries Research Report No. 252. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 40pp.

#### **Enquiries:**

WA Fisheries and Marine Research Laboratories, PO Box 20, North Beach, WA 6920 Tel: +61 8 9203 0111 Email: library@fish.wa.gov.au Website: www.fish.wa.gov.au ABN: 55 689 794 771

A complete list of Fisheries Research Reports is available online at www.fish.wa.gov.au

#### Disclaimer

This report has been prepared on behalf of and for the use of the Biosecurity policy and management groups in the Western Australian Department of Fisheries.

Cover photograph: Colonies of introduced ascidians *in situ*: Didemnum perlucidum, Botrylloides violeaceous and Botryllus schlosseri

© Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. March 2014. ISSN: 1035 - 4549 ISBN: 978-1-921845-74-1

# Contents

Exe	cutive summary	3
Cur	rent statement on the incursion of <i>Didemnum perlucidum</i> in WA	5
1.0	Introduction	6
2.0	Didemnum perlucidum characteristics	7
	2.1 Common names	7
	2.2 Similar species	7
	2.3 Taxonomic classification	7
	2.4 Distribution	7
	2.5 Description	8
	2.6 Reproduction	9
	2.7 Impacts	.11
3.0	Management of colonial and solitary ascidians	12
4.0	Control and eradication methods	13
	4.1 Chemical methods	13
	4.2 Biological methods	16
	4.3 Physical/mechanical methods	16
5.0	Combining methods for control/eradication	18
6.0	Novel methods in aquaculture	22
7.0	Case studies of ascidian management programs	23
	7.1 Holyhead Marina, Wales	23
	7.2 New Zealand	23
8.0	Considerations for future responses	25
	8.1 Target area	25
	8.2 Habitat	25
	8.3 Environmental conditions	25
	8.4 Temporal and geographic variations	25
	8.5 Substratum characteristics	26
	8.6 Target species characteristics	26
	8.7 Decision making and response protocol	26
9.0	Conclusions and recommendations	27
10.0	References	33

## List of Tables

Table 1.	Common terms related to ascidian (tunicate) morphology and taxonomy (Rocha 2011).	. 1
Table 2.	List of important terms presented in this review.	. 2
Table 3.	Chemical treatments used to control colonial and solitary ascidian fouling in aquaculture facilities.	14
Table 4.	Mechanical and physical methods used for the control and eradication of <i>Didemnum vexillum</i> and other introduced ascidians.	19
Table 5.	Summary of main treatments: efficacy, cost and relative advantages and/or disadvantages.	29

# List of Figures

Figure 1.	A. A fully developed <i>Didemnum perlucidum</i> larva with four ampullae (red arrows), coiled tail and three adhesive papillae. B. Photograph of a spicule taken with a scanning electron microscope (SEM) showing 12 rounded	0
	conical rays (red arrows)	.9
Figure 2.	<i>Didemnum perlucidum</i> life cycle. A reproductive zooid (black and white diagram) shows a bud arising from the oesophageal region (a) and gonads (b)	
	present in the abdomen.	10
Figure 3.	General view of a plan to manage the Didemnum perlucidum in WA	
	environments.	28

# Glossary of tunicate terminology

Table 1.Common terms related to ascidian (tunicate) morphology and taxonomy (Rocha<br/>2011).

Term	Definition
Abdomen	Present in colonial ascidians with two or three body regions. It is the part of the animal that includes the digestive tract or oesophagus. In some groups, also includes gonads and the heart. It is posterior to the pharynx.
Ampullae	Present in larval and adult colonial ascidians and some larvae of solitary ascidians, grown from the epidermis of the body and are used to attach the animal to the substratum.
Adhesive cones	Outer adhesive structures of a larval ascidian used to adhere to a substrate
Branchial sac	Perforated sac where respiration and food filtration occurs. It is equivalent to the pharynx in vertebrates.
Bud	Undeveloped or embryonic zooid that develops asexually.
Budding	Type of vegetative reproductions; may occur in different forms in ascidians
Cloacal canal	A channel in the tunic linking the atrial openings of several zooids in a colony.
Colonial ascidian	Ascidian with vegetative reproduction, and the individuals originated remain united through the tunic.
Colony	Set of several zooids originating from a larva that remains united by the common tunic.
Egg	Diploid cell resulting from the fusion of gametes (e.g. ova and sperm)
Egg brooding	Retention of eggs in the parent individual until fertilisation.
Gonads	Reproductive organs.
Larva (pl. larvae)	Stage of the life cycle that is an immature free-swimming form (natant).
Larval trunk	Body of the larva, excluding the tail
Oesophageal region	Narrow region between the thorax and abdomen, formed by the oesophagus and the rectum, only in colonial ascidians.
Ovary	Female gonad
Solitary ascidian	An ascidian consisting of a single individual
Spicules	Structures made of calcium or aragonite which provides support and strength to the tunic. In the family Didemnidae they are star shaped or spherical
Stigmata	Perforations in the branchial sac, with ciliated margin
Testis	Male gonad
Tunic	Tissue with different concentrations of tunicine fibres (similar to cellulose), blood cells and connective cells surrounding the animal
Zooids	Each individual in a colony

#### Other terms used in this text

Term	Definition	Reference
Control	Reduction of a population density.	Genovesi (2011)
Containment	To limit the spread of a species by containing its presence within defined geographical boundaries.	Genovesi (2011)
DNA barcoding	A tool that uses one or more short gene sequences taken from a standardised portion of the genome and is used to identify species through reference to DNA sequence libraries or databases.	Kress and Erickson (2012)
Eradication	Elimination from a site of all individuals of a species (100% mortality).	Genovesi (2011)
Polyculture	Polyculture in aquaculture is the association of fish species of different food habits for the effective use of available fish foods in a pond, where wastes produced by one species may be inputs for other species.	Milstein (2005)

**Table 2.**List of important terms presented in this review.

#### **Executive summary**

In Western Australia, the invasive colonial ascidian *Didemnum perlucidum* was first detected in the Swan River Estuary in 2010 and subsequently recorded at multiple locations across the State. Ongoing research by the Department of Fisheries (the Department) indicates that this species exhibits strong seasonal changes in abundance. Although, *D. perlucidum* is able to reproduce sexually (larvae) and asexually (budding) year round, larvae density and settlement, and overall colony size significantly decreases during the colder months (winter). From a management point of view this period would present the best opportunity for an attempt at eradication or control of this species.

Currently there are no eradication or control methods for *D. perlucidum* mainly due to its wide distribution and/or unrecorded negative impacts in introduced locations (e.g. USA). However, this report provides a summary of various methods used to treat artificial and natural substrates affected by introduced colonial and solitary ascidians. Several management methods have been used for the eradication and control of ascidians, which can be classified into three broad categories: chemical, mechanical and biological.

- 1. Chemical methods involve the use of chemical compounds such as bleach, vinegar, lime, freshwater, sodium hydroxide, and others to kill the target species.
- 2. Mechanical methods involve the deployment of physical barriers with the aim of promoting unsuitable conditions for the survival of the target species (e.g. low oxygen concentrations) or physical removal (e.g. hand picking) from the fouled surface.
- 3. Biological methods involve the use of a control agent (i.e. another organism) with the aim of decreasing the abundance of the target species. However, this method of control is poorly understood and tested for colonial ascidians.

Few programs have been previously implemented for the eradication of introduced ascidians. There are many cases where eradication was not feasible due to lack of good understanding of the target species, local conditions, and lack of funds, etc. When implemented, no program was able to achieve eradication of the target species. However, every attempt, irrespective of the outcome, has enhanced the development of new treatments and the identification of critical success factors that dictate the overall outcome of such programs.

The most effective eradication method identified so far is a combination of chemical and mechanical methods. Structures fouled with colonial ascidians can be encapsulated or wrapped and concentrated vinegar (acetic acid 20%) pumped into the encapsulation. This method is cost effective and relatively easy to use if applied correctly and if anoxic conditions are achieved under the wrap. However, the encapsulation method (with or without chemical addition) is non-target specific and cannot be used to control ascidian fouling on cultured organisms (i.e. mussels) or in high value areas (i.e. where there are protected species) without adversely affecting other species. In these situations, alternative methods can be used such as dipping or spraying mussel lines with a chemical or physically removing the target species. Results from previous attempts to manage ascidian species other than *D. perlucidum* have indicated that eradication is unlikely to be achieved and that these control methods often result in high mortality of farmed species. As a last resort or if the level of infestation is very high, fouled structures, vessels or aquaculture gear can be removed from the water and air dried. However, this process has been shown to be extremely expensive and time consuming, and stakeholders were often reluctant to take this action.

It is clear that key factors need to be met prior to any attempt at eradicating a colonial ascidian such as *D. perlucidum* in WA. These key factors are as follows:

- 1. Good knowledge of the distribution, biology and ecology of the target species.
- 2. Good knowledge of the geographic and temporal variations of the area to be treated.
- 3. The commitment of funds for the entire control program and ongoing monitoring surveys.
- 4. The establishment of efficient lines for decision making and effective communication with stakeholders, agencies and general public.

# **Current statement on the incursion of** *Didemnum perlucidum* **in WA**

On 16/12/2013 02:46 PM, Victoria Aitken wrote:

The position currently on Didemnum perlucidum is this:

Until recently the Department treated *D. perlucidum* like any pest listed on the Western Australian Prevention List for Introduced Marine Pests (2013). Inclusion on this list means that certain management responses should be followed by vessel operators when a pest is found - including reporting all suspected and confirmed detections to the Department as soon as possible.

Unfortunately, *D. perlucidum* is now confirmed in several locations around the coast of WA. As a consequence, the Department has revised the policy and the management response for this species is now to manage this pest only for high value asset areas. These areas are considered to be State marine parks, lands and waters adjacent to A class reserves, pearling and aquaculture facilities, and ports.

Thus, the Department proposes to provide the following advice for all stakeholders:

- *D. perlucidum* remains listed as a marine pest and suspected and confirmed detections should still be reported so its distribution can be tracked.
- If moving vessels or immersible equipment into, or adjacent to, high value assets areas as mentioned above, stakeholders are requested to comply with any specific Departmental management advice regarding *D. perlucidum*. Actions may include ensuring vessels, or immersible equipment, are clean before entering these areas.

Furthermore, proponents with marine pest conditions within a Ministerial Statement under the Environmental Protection Act 1986 will still be required to undertake actions as per their relevant Statement.

The Department recommends to the OEPA the following specific response actions for *D. perlucidum* found within project areas:

- Establish the extent of the species within the project (i.e. through a delimiting survey); and
- Report any suspected or confirmed detections of the species.

Further action is likely only to be required if infested vessels and equipment are planning to be moved into or near high value asset areas, as mentioned above. If clarity is required, stakeholders will be able to seek guidance from the Department.

Regards,

Victoria Aitken

Biosecurity Section Leader | Aquatic Environment Branch | Department of Fisheries

T +61 8 9482 7385 | M +61 (0)419 913 946 | victoria.aitken@fish.wa.gov.au

#### 1.0 Introduction

The introduction of ascidians to natural and artificial substrates in tropical and temperate environments is now commonplace (Lambert 2002, Minchin and Sides 2006, Valentine *et al.* 2007, Lengyel *et al.* 2009). Once introduced, ascidians have the potential to negatively affect the biodiversity and ecological functions or economy of the recipient location (Lengyel *et al.* 2009, Morris and Carman 2012). For example ascidian fouling in Brazil and New Hampshire has been linked to a reduction of growth and increased mussel mortality, resulting in reduced farm productivity and economic losses for the shellfish aquaculture industry (Rocha *et al.* 2009, Auker 2010).

Colonial species, from the family Didemnidae provide many examples of negative impacts. For example, *Didemnum vexillum* has had a detrimental impact on pre-existing sessile hard surfaces communities where it was introduced. Negative impacts include the decline of the brittle star *Ophiothrix fragilis* and the sea urchin *Psammechinus miliaris* (Minchin and Sides 2006), while *Diplosoma listerianum*, another member of the this family, was able to change the community structure in the North Sea (Vance *et al.* 2009).

The origin of *D. perlucidum* remains uncertain. It was first recorded from Guadeloupe Island in the Caribbean but apparently is of Atlantic origin (Monniot 1983). Furthermore, the data available in the literature is often contradictory. For example, Perry (2012) suggests that *D. perlucidum* is native to Guam and Palau, while Golbuu *et al.* (2005) and Lambert (2002, 2003) indicate that this species was introduced to these locations. This confusion is most likely due to the difficulty in identifying this species and lack of historical records.

In 2010, *D. perlucidum* was recorded for the first time in the Swan River Estuary, Perth, Western Australia (WA) fouling settlement plates (Smale and Childs 2011). Since then this species has been found widely distributed across the State, growing on artificial and natural substrates. However, no control or eradication has been attempted for this ascidian. This report provides a review of current management measures used for the eradication and control of introduced colonial and solitary ascidians (Refer to Appendix 1 for a list of species presented in this review), focusing on strategies previously used for the management of the colonial ascidian *D. vexillum*.

# 2.0 Didemnum perlucidum characteristics

#### 2.1 Common names

A white crust ascidian, white sea squirt, colonial ascidian, compound sea squirt, leather squirt.

#### 2.2 Similar species

*D. perlucidum* have been previously misidentified or often confused with other Didemnid species (many native to WA) including: *D. perplexum, D. granulatum, D. cineraceum, D. candidum* and *D. psamathodes* (Monniot 1983, Rocha and Monniot 1995, Kott 2001).

## 2.3 Taxonomic classification

Classification as per Gittenberger et al. (2012).

Kingdom	Animalia
Phylum	Chordata
Subphylum	Tunicata
Class	Ascidiacea
Order	Aplausobranchia
Family	Didemnidae
Genus	Didemnum
Species	Didemnum perlucidum

# 2.4 Distribution

*D. perlucidum* was first described from Guadeloupe Island in the Caribbean (Monniot 1983) and subsequently recorded in Brazil (Rocha and Monniot 1995, Rocha *et al.* 2005), West Africa (Monniot and Monniot 1997), the Gulf of Mexico (USA) (Felder and Camp 2009) and the Indo-Pacific (Monniot *et al.* 1991), including Hawaii, Guam, New Caledonia and the Pacific entrance to the Panama Canal (Perry 2012).

*D. perlucidum* is classified as a tropical colonial ascidian which grows on multiple substrates (Rocha and Monniot 1995). In the Caribbean, where this ascidian is considered to be a native species, it grows in low densities and is associated to coral reefs and mangroves (Rocha *et al.* 2009, Kremer *et al.* 2010). In introduced locations, *D. perlucidum* is commonly associated with disturbed habitats (e.g. marinas and harbours and aquaculture facilities) (Kremer *et al.* 2010) where it can heavily foul artificial substrates including buoys, ropes, pylons and vessels (HARC 2012). In these environments, this ascidian is usually observed growing on other organisms such as polychaete tubes, algae, corals, barnacles and solitary ascidians and is frequently associated with other introduced ascidians (e.g. *Styela plicata*) (Kremer *et al.* 2010, 2011).

*D. perlucidum* has also been described as a common fouler in shellfish farms, where it can heavily grow over mussels such as *Perna perna* (Rocha *et al.* 2009), *Mytilus edulis* (Glen Dibbin 2012 pers. comm.) and *Pinctada* oysters (Baptista *et al.* 2007). Interestingly, in Brazil,

*D. perlucidum* was reported as one of the most common fouler on oysters (Baptista *et al.* 2007) but not for cultivated mussels (Rocha *et al.* 2009). The ability of *D. perlucidum* to heavily foul certain cultured bivalves and the actual effect on farm productivity requires further investigation.

*D. perlucidum* has been recorded in natural and artificial marine environments in WA from Busselton to Broome (Department of Fisheries WA 2013) and the Northern Territory in Darwin and surrounding coastal waters (Robert Rose 2012, pers. comm.). In WA this ascidian can survive temperatures between 15 and 30 °C (CSIRO 2003) and has been recorded at depths of up to 8 m (B. Tilley 2013, pers. comm.). However, it is commonly found in the upper 1–3 m of the water column (Muñoz *et al.* 2013, unpublished data).

# 2.5 Description

Descriptions in the literature demonstrate the plasticity of *D. perlucidum's* morphological and anatomical characteristics. Although diagnostic characteristics (necessary for taxonomic identification) are well defined for this species it is often difficult to find all of them in the same individual. Hence, taxonomic identification of *D. perlucidum* requires extensive observation and in many cases needs to be supported by molecular identification tools (e.g. DNA barcoding).

#### External appearance

The external colouration of ascidians, especially of colonial ascidians, should not be used as an indicator of species identity. For example in WA, the colouration of *D. perlucidum* colonies varies from white to grey, brown, pink or reddish coloration, which indicates that these features are not reliable characteristics for the identification of this species in the field.

The shape of *D. perlucidum* colonies is also variable; it is due to the number of spicules present in its tunic (Rocha and Monniot 1995) and the shape of the fouled substrate (e.g. tube worms) (Mike Page 2013, pers. comm.).

Colonies of *D. perlucidum* form very thin sheets of no more than 2 mm thickness (Monniot *et al.* 1991) and can extend several centimetres in diameter (10 cm) (Monniot 1983, Perry 2012). It has been suggested that the thickness of the sheet is also related to the reproductive state of the colony with thicker colonies occurring when the colony is in its most reproductive state (Perry 2012). This characteristic has been observed for *D. perlucidum* populations in WA with reproductive colonies being thicker at higher larvae densities (Muñoz *et al.* 2013, unpublished data).

#### Internal appearance

Zooids are variable in length measuring up to 1.8 mm (Monniot 1983) and are characterised by the presence of 6–7 stigmata in the first and second row of the branchial sac. The testis is undivided and the sperm duct coiled in 7–8 turns (Monniot 1983, Kott 2001). For an extensive anatomical description of *Didemnum perlucidum* refer to Monniot (1983).

Larvae of *D. perlucidum* are relatively small compared to other *Didemnum* species. They are distinguished by the presence of four large ampullae and three adhesive papillae measuring up to 500  $\mu$ m in diameter (Figure 1A). Larvae are cylindrical but occasionally flattened with a larval trunk 0.45 mm long. Usually the tail winds only two thirds of the way round (Kott 2001) but sometimes it can be completely wound around the larva (Monniot 1983). These characteristics are only visible with the aid of a microscope using correctly preserved and sexually reproductive specimens, highlighting the need for adherence to specific sample collection and preservation procedures.

*D. perlucidum*'s spicules are always present and commonly found in the superficial layers of the tunic (Rocha and Monniot 1995). They are star shaped with 12 short rounded conical rays (Figure 1B) evident in a visible plane (Monniot 1983); they are relatively small and can vary from 20–40 µm diameter (Monniot 1983, Rocha and Monniot 1995).



**Figure 1. A.** A fully developed *Didemnum perlucidum* larva with four ampullae (red arrows), coiled tail and three adhesive papillae. **B.** Photograph of a spicule taken with a scanning electron microscope (SEM) showing 12 rounded conical rays (red arrows) (photograph by Monniot 1983).

## 2.6 Reproduction

Despite continual reproduction throughout the year, the growth and reproductive efforts of *D. perlucidum* are greater in warmer months with a decrease in colony size or retraction during colder months (Kremer 2008, Kremer *et al.* 2010, Muñoz *et al.* 2013 unpublished results).

An ascidian colony consists of individual elements called zooids. Each zooid is hermaphroditic, presenting male and female gonads in the same individual, and can reproduce both sexually and asexually (Monniot *et al.* 1991).

Literature suggests that *D. perlucidum* is sexually mature within a few weeks of larval settlement (HARC 2012). *D. perlucidum* is highly fecund and has been shown to breed throughout the year releasing large numbers of mature larvae daily. In Santa Catarina, Brazil peak larval release was in March (summer season) when all colonies were reproductive and produced up to 42.7 larvae cm<sup>-2</sup>. In contrast larval production was lowest during October (winter) when only 30 % of colonies were reproductive and produced only 8.9 larvae cm<sup>-2</sup> (Kremer *et al.* 2010).

#### Sexual

In *Didemnum* species fertilisation is internal with embryos brooded within the colony (Monniot *et al.* 1991). Larvae are then released into the water column as free swimming larvae (in a process called spawning) as a response to light stimulation (Fletcher and Forrest 2011). However, larvae have only a very short-range active dispersal capacity, commonly settling only a few metres from the parent colony. For *D. perlucidum* it is unknown how long larvae swim prior to settlement, however, for *D. vexillum* larvae swim for approximately 48 hr before settling and

undergoing metamorphosis (Fletcher and Forrest 2011). This process continues until a colony is fully established (Figure 2). These reproductive characteristics haven't been described for *D*. *perlucidum* in Australia or elsewhere.

#### Asexual

Clonal propagation of colonies via budding regeneration (asexual) is common in the Didemnidae family (Kott 2001). It is known that a few weeks post-settlement, *D. vexillum* recruits can undergo asexual budding and divide into a two zooid colony. It has been suggested that this method of reproduction plays a major role expanding the size of a *D. vexillum* colony under favourable conditions (e.g. food, space availability) (Dias *et al.* 2008).

Budding has also been described for *D. perlucidum* (Dias *et al.* 2008). However, it is not known how the mechanism of budding aids in the spreading of *D. perlucidum*. Ongoing research on *D. perlucidum* in WA has confirmed that budding regeneration occurs in the oesophageal region, and that both types of reproduction (sexual and asexual) can occur at the same time (Muñoz *et al.* 2013, unpublished data)(Figure 2). This alternation between sexual and asexual reproduction appears to be a significant colonising strategy for this ascidian. It has also been determined that in temperate waters of WA (Hillarys), *D. perlucidum* is reproductive throughout the whole year with the egg/larva density being greatest during the warmest months in summer and autumn. Whether this is the case for tropical populations in WA (Dampier to Broome) or lower latitudes (Busselton) is yet to be investigated.



**Figure 2.** *Didemnum perlucidum* life cycle. A reproductive zooid (black and white diagram) shows a bud arising from the oesophageal region (a) and gonads (b) present in the abdomen. (Black and white diagrams by Kott 2001).

# 2.7 Impacts

*D. perlucidum* is considered a species with the potential to be highly invasive due to its high reproductive output, fast growth rate, and ability to occupy disturbed environments (Kremer 2008). This high capacity for colonisation has been observed in WA (Smale and Childs 2011) and USA (Lambert 2009). In 1997, an oil rig was cut in half and sunk in the Gulf of Mexico. The rig was surveyed 14 months later and it was observed that *D. perlucidum* covered most of the rig superstructure that had previously been out of water (Lambert 2009).

*D. perlucidum* has also been recorded as a heavy fouler at a local mussel farm in south-west WA and is anecdotally suspected to increase the mortality of farmed mussels spat by up to 80% (Glenn Dibbin 2012, pers. comm.). These fouling characteristics suggest that this species could outcompete local fouling populations.

#### **3.0** Management of colonial and solitary ascidians

Before attempting an eradication or control program within a localised area, the first step should be to undertake a delimiting survey to understand the distribution of the species and the scale of impact. From there decisions can be made on the aims (eradication or control), whether the impacts of the species and the removal techniques are such that any management should be attempted, and the identification of specific and realistic spatial boundaries to be treated. For example, eradication of a 2 m<sup>2</sup> area in a national park at the time of first detection followed by ongoing controls and surveys to reduce the likelihood of reinfection. In New Zealand (Pannell and Coutts 2007) and Great Britain (Cook 2010), eradication programs for *D. vexillum* followed an order of management prioritisation from 1 to 4 where 4 resulted in no action:

- 1. Eradication in high-value areas (e.g. aquaculture areas).
- 2. Eradication in areas with only low levels of infestation that can be easily treated but has the potential of developing into large infestations.
- 3. Eradication of large infestations of artificial and natural areas.
- 4. Large infestations where eradication and control is not feasible, thus no action can be taken.

If eradication and/or control of *D. perlucidum* are to be attempted in WA then clearly established objectives and aims should be agreed prior to the implementation of any program including agreement on funding and ongoing monitoring (refer to Pannell and Coutts 2007 and Coutts and Forrest 2007 for specific details on this approach).

#### 4.0 Control and eradication methods

Control methods for invasive species are classified into three broad categories: chemical, mechanical and biological, with combinations of methods (e.g. chemical and mechanical) also possible.

## 4.1 Chemical methods

Chemical control refers to the use of specially formulated chemical compounds to kill or control invasive species intended for the prevention, destruction, repulsion, or mitigation of any pest. Common chemicals aimed at reducing the biomass and cover of colonial and solitary ascidians on aquaculture species/infrastructure are outlined in Table 3. Additional treatments used for the management of the solitary ascidian S. clava include citric acid, formalin and detergents (Le Blanc et al. 2007) but no information on the treatment time and concentration was provided. These methods consist of dipping and/or spraying mussel lines or oyster cages with the chemical. So far no chemical treatment tested for the management of ascidian fouling has been proven to be successful in eradicating (100% mortality) the target species (i.e. D. vexillum, Botryllus schlosseri, Botrylloides leachi). One of the major constraints with this method is the high mortality observed in the farmed species (mussels and oysters). However, the two treatments that best managed to control D. vexillum biomass were dipping the lines in a solution of bleach (0.5%) for 2 min (farmed species, P. canalicula. Denny (2008) and for oysters, dipping the lines in a solution of hydrated lime (1-5%) for 5 min (farmed species, Crassostrea gigas, Roldheiser et al. 2010). The latter treatment resulted in the greatest reduction of D. vexillum biomass (>90%) and maximum survival rate (>80%) of the farmed species (oysters in this case) (Roldheiser et al. 2010).

Chemical methods can be also used in combination with mechanical methods to accelerate the process and increase the likelihood of eradication (e.g. addition of acetic acid to a wrapped pylon) (Pleus *et al.* 2008). For example structures such as pylons and floating pontoons can be wrapped with an impervious material and simultaneously treated with acetic acid in concentrations from 5–20%. For *D. vexillum* the best results to date have been achieved using high concentrations of acetic acid (20%) (Pannell and Coutts 2007). Acetic acid is cheap and presents a low environmental risk (highly soluble in water) compared to other chemicals. A permit to utilise any chemical for eradication purposes might be required, especially for high value assets, as its use might cause negative impacts on the environment.

Table 3.	Chemical	treatments used	to control colonial	and solitary	r ascidian t	fouling in aquaculture facili	ties.			
Target species	Farmed species	Method	Treatment concentration	Dipping times	Rinse	Effectiveness (best result)	Location tested	Season	Study type	Reference
Didemnum vexillum	Perna canalicula	Freshwater	NA	2, 5, 10 min	No	High mussel mortality	New Zealand	Unknown	Field	Denny (2008)
D. vexillum	P. canalicula	Acetic acid (C <sub>2</sub> H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> )	0.1, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 10%	1, 2, 3, 5, 10 min	Yes	High mussel mortality	New Zealand	Unknown	Lab/field	Denny (2008)
D. vexillum	P. canalicula	Bleach (NaClO)	0.1, 0.25, 0.5, 1%	30 s and 2 min		0.5% bleach @ 2 min with max. survival of farmed species, eradication not achieved	New Zealand	Unknown	Lab/field	Denny (2008)
D. vexillum	P. canalicula	Calcium oxide (CaO)	5, 10%	20s and 2 min	Yes	High farmed species mortality	New Zealand	Unknown	Lab/field	Denny (2008)
D. vexillum	P. canalicula	Sodium metasilicate (Na <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> Si)	3, 6%	21 s and 2 min	Yes	High farmed species mortality	New Zealand	Unknown	Lab/field	Denny (2008)
D. vexillum	P. canalicula	Sodium hydroxide (NaOH)	3, 6%	22 s and 2 min	Yes	High farmed species mortality	New Zealand	Unknown	Lab/field	Denny (2008)
D. vexillum	Crassostrea gigas	Hydrated lime (CaOH <sub>2</sub> )	4%	AN	Ϋ́	Reduction in cover of target species but subsequent increase of other foulers' biomass due to space availability/ reduction in oyster survival	Vancouver, Canada	Jul-Nov	Field	Switzer e <i>t al.</i> (2011)
D. vexillum	C. gigas	Brine	40, 50, 70 ppt	0.5, 1, 5, 10 min	Unknown	Reduction of <i>D. vexillum</i> cover	Tofino, Canada	Winter	Lab/field	Roldheiser et al. (2012)
D. vexillum	C. gigas	Freshwater	0, 5, 20 ppt	0.5, 1, 5, 10 min	Unknown	Reduction of <i>D. vexillum</i> cover	Tofino, Canada	Winter	Lab/field	Roldheiser <i>et al.</i> (2012)

Chemical treatments used to control colonial and solitary ascidian fouling in aquaculture facilities.

Target species	Farmed species	Method	Treatment concentration	Dipping times	Rinse	Effectiveness (best result)	Location tested	Season	Study type	Reference
D. vexillum	C. gigas	Hydrated lime (CaOH <sub>2</sub> )	1, 2, 4%	0.5, 1, 5, 10 min	Unknown	Best method with best survival of farmed species (>80%) 1-5%/10 min and 4%/5 min	Tofino, Canada	Winter	Lab/field	Roldheiser <i>et al.</i> (2012)
D. vexillum	C. gigas	Acetic acid (C <sub>2</sub> H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> )	0.25, 1.25, 5%	0.5, 1, 5, 10 min	Unknown	Reduction of <i>D. vexillum</i> cover	Tofino, Canada	Winter	Lab/field	Roldheiser et al. (2012)
D. vexillum	NA	Sodium hydrochloride (HCINa)	concentrated	NA	AN	Potential high mussel mortality	Ireland	AN	Unknown	Kelly and Mcguire (2008)
<i>Ciona</i> intestinalis	mussels	Virkon® Aquatic	0.5 – 5%	30 s	ΥN	89% of <i>C. intestinalis</i> biomass reduced	Canada	Unknown	Unknown	Paetzold and Davison (2011)
Ciona savignyi	NA	Ubiquinone-10 Spermidine Muscimol Radicicol Polygodial	Multiple concentrations	AN	NA	Highest mortality of target species achieved with radicicol and polygodial	New Zealand	NA	Lab	Cahill <i>et al.</i> (2012)
C. savignyi	P. canalicula	Ubiquinone-10 Radicicol Polygodial	Doses calculated at IC <sub>99</sub> mussels exposed for 42 days	АЛ	AA	Ubiquinone 10 and polygodial did not affect <i>P. canalicula</i> and inhibit settlement and metamorphosis of <i>C</i> . <i>savignyi</i>	New Zealand	AN	Lab	Cahill <i>et al.</i> (2013)

# 4.2 Biological methods

Biological control agents are used to decrease a pest's competitive advantage over native organisms and to weaken the invading population by increasing pest mortality, and/or limiting population expansion, size and reproduction (Pleus *et al.* 2008).

Ascidians have few known predators with most predation occurring during the larval stage or very shortly after settlement and metamorphosis (Pleus *et al.* 2008). Few publications refer to the use of biological control agents for the control or eradication of ascidians and those that do have limited value due to uncontrollable effects encountered during the experimental phase. Switzer *et al.* (2011) tested the effect of the sea urchin *Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis* on oysters (*C. gigas*) heavily fouled with *D. vexillum*. The experiment consisted of placing 20 urchins in oyster trays covered with 5 cm mesh to stop urchins escaping. The results obtained suggested that it's difficult to monitor the control agent (urchins) and there are many biological and environmental factors that can't be controlled. Hence the real effect of the treatment (urchins) on *D. vexillum* remains unknown (Switzer *et al.* 2011). Other publications report the use of the sea star *Asterias vulgaris*, the crabs *Cancer irroratus* and *Carcinus maenas* (Carver *et al.* 2003) and the shrimp *Rhyncocynetes typus* (Dumont *et al.* 2009) to control the solitary ascidian *Ciona intestinalis*. Results showed that these predators were selective feeders, had low feed rates and had a tendency to avoid larger *C. intestinalis* specimens.

Reports of successful eradications using biological control agents against introduced species are few and there are many well-known case studies that illustrate potentially disastrous consequences to the environment, industry, and human health following the introduction of foreign predators or pathogens (Pleus *et al.* 2008).

Biological control is not currently recommended as a viable option for the control of *D. perlucidum* in WA.

# 4.3 Physical/mechanical methods

Physical control refers to the use of physical manipulation of a pest with or without the aid of machinery to cut, shear, shred, crush, press, lift, convey, transport, and/or remove an invasive pest and associated organic material from water bodies (Pleus *et al.* 2008). This method also includes the establishment of physical barriers (e.g. fences, wrapping) to prevent the dispersal of a pest or to create specific environmental conditions unsuitable for the survival of a pest (e.g. reduction of oxygen in the water) (Pleus *et al.* 2008).

The mechanical methods used to control ascidians can be classed into two major groups: 1) physical removal of target species or fouled structures and 2) the encapsulation of submerged structures *in situ*. These are outlined in Table 4.

The first method is the manual collection of the target species (Pannell and Coutts 2007) or removal of the submerged structures fouled by the target species, such as aquaculture structures (e.g. nets, lines, cages), moorings and vessels (Kelly and Maguire 2008). Caution must be exercised during all attempts involving the physical removal of target ascidian species as there is potential for the species to be spread by fragmentation. It has been observed that dislodged fragments (in the water) of *Botryllus schlosseri* (colonial ascidian) are viable for a period of 18 days (Paetzold and Davison 2010).

In situ removal of solitary ascidians such as S. clava has been proven to be an effective control

method. However, this method is costly in terms of time and effort as each individual needs to be handpicked (NIWA 2013). Furthermore, the stress induced by the physical removal of the individuals could also promote the release of larvae before they are removed from the water (Mike Page 2013, pers. comm.).

Submerged structures that have been removed should be air dried (Carman *et al.* 2010) and/ or treated to facilitate the cleaning of structures (e.g. manual scrubbing) (Switzer *et al.* 2011). Alternative methods for cleaning docked structures/vessels is the use of pressurised seawater above water to remove colonial or solitary ascidians from vessel hulls (Arens *et al.* 2010) or the use of direct pressure blasting to remove fouling from mussel lines (Paetzon and Davison 2010). However attempts must be made to capture the removed fouling and dispose of it on land.

The encapsulation method consists of placing a physical barrier over fouled surfaces such as pylons, wharfs/pontoons, vessels, moorings and chains, aquaculture cages, and certain areas of the seabed. Encapsulation can be achieved by wrapping the fouled structure with plastic bags; high-grade geotextile fabric, plastic silage covers and plastic wrap (Pannell and Coutts 2007). The purpose of "wrapping" fouled structures *in situ* is to establish a physical barrier to prevent water exchange and create anoxic (low oxygen) conditions around the target species and ultimately kill it.

Encapsulation of structures has been proven to be the most effective method for the eradication of D. vexillum, if anoxic conditions are achieved. The time required to achieve full eradication depends on the type of affected structure (e.g. size, surface characteristics). For example, for pylons and vessels, eradication can be achieved in 7 days, while for infected seabed it might take up to 14 days. This period can be reduced during the summer when the water temperature is higher (C. Wellington 2013, pers. comm.). However, this method like many other control methods, is indiscriminate (non-target specific) and is likely to kill all the organisms attached to the structure. A summary of mechanical and physical methods tested for the control of D. vexillum and other ascidians is provided in Table 4.

#### 5.0 Combining methods for control/eradication

There are various methods that have been trialled or proposed for the eradication of *D. vexillum* in introduced locations such as New Zealand (Coutts and Forrest 2007; Pannell and Coutts 2007), Scotland (Nimmo *et al.* 2011), Wales (Kleeman 2001, Holt and Cordingley 2011), England (Cook 2010), Ireland (Kelly and Maguire 2008), and Canada (Switzer *et al.* 2011). These programs included a combination of physical and chemical methods such as: wrapping fouled infrastructure with plastic and adding a chemical accelerant to kill it, or removal of infected infrastructure from the water to allow drying, and adding biocides to infected areas. For a comparison of the effectiveness of the different treatments refer to Table 5. Theoretically, using a combination of these methods would provide the best opportunity for eradicating target populations of *D. vexillum* or any other introduced ascidian.

Table 4.	Mechanical	I and physical methods used	d for the control and era	dication of <i>Didemnum vexillum</i> ar	nd other introduc	ed ascidians.	
Fouler	Substrate	Description	Treatment	Effectiveness against target organism (eradication)	Location	Study type	Reference
Didemnum vexillum	Submerged structures	Remove moorings, vessels and aquaculture installations, by slipping/ dry docking, high pressure water cleaning, then desiccation for 48 hrs	Not fully tested	Not tested	Ireland	Field	Kelly and Maguire (2008)
D. vexillum	Oysters	Turn oyster bags regularly		Reduces colonisation of <i>D. vexillum</i> on the bags	Ireland	Field	Kelly and Maguire (2008)
D. vexillum	Seabed	Use of high grade geotextile fabric (smallest pore size)		Effective only if anoxic conditions are achieved under the fabric	Ireland	Field	Kelly and Maguire (2008)
D. vexillum	Seabed (beneath jetties/ pontoons, mosorings, vessels and mussel farms)	Larger infestations were covered with plastic silage covers attached with rocks or pegs, water under the cover pumped out	14 days	Effective only if anoxic conditions are achieved under the silage cover	New Zealand	Field	Pannell and Coutts (2007)
D. vexillum	Pontoons	Plastic encapsulation using silage covers with or without accelerant		Easy to apply as don't require complex equipment Effective only if anoxic conditions are achieved under the silage cover	Holyhead Marina, Wales	Ч	Kleeman (2009); Laing <i>et al.</i> (2010)
D. vexillum	Pontoons	"Set-n-forget" plastic encapsulation method using silage covers	7 days, most effective if 20% acetic acid is added	100% effective if applied correctly	New Zealand	Field	Pannell and Coutts (2007)
D. vexillum	Anchor chains	Plastic wrapping		As above	Holyhead Marina, Wales	NA	Kleeman (2009); Laing <i>et al.</i> (2010)
D. vexillum	Moorings	In situ plastic "Set-n-forget" encapsulation technique	4–7 days treatment	100% effective if applied correctly, <i>D. vexillum</i> was killed in 89% of moorings treated	New Zealand	Field	Pannell and Coutts (2007)

Fisheries Research Report [Western Australia] No. 252, 2014

Fouler	Substrate	Description	Treatment	Effectiveness against target organism (eradication)	Location	Study type	Reference
D. vexillum	Pylons	Wrapping by divers, Donagheys plastic balage wrap (0.75 x 1500 x 25 m)		100% effective if applied correctly, acts in 7 days in optimal conditions	New Zealand	Field	Pannell and Coutts (2007)
D. vexillum	Boat hulls	Plastic encapsulation using silage covers with or without chemical accelerant		As above	Holyhead Marina, Wales	NA	Kleeman (2009); Laing <i>et al.</i> (2010)
D. vexillum	Boat hulls	<i>In situ</i> plastic "Set-n-forget" encapsulation technique	7 days treatment with addition of 20% acetic acid	100% effective if applied correctly	New Zealand	Field	Pannell and Coutts (2007)
D. vexillum	C. gigas	Manual scrubbing		Reduction of cover but increase of other foulers ( <i>B. schlosseri</i> ) biomass due to space availability	Vancouver, Canada	Field	Switzer <i>et al.</i> (2011)
D. vexillum	Mussels	Air drying of fouled mussels (nets, cages)		Not effective, mussels died at 5 hr exposure time while <i>D. vexillum</i> survived >6 hr exposure time	USA (east coast)	Field	Carman <i>et al.</i> (2010)
D. vexillum	Floating pontoons/ wharfs	Air drying of structures	Left for 2 weeks to dry	Effective if applied correctly	New Zealand	Field	Pannell and Coutts (2007)
D. vexillum	Seaweed beds (Carpophyllum sp.)	Manual removal	Divers used knives to remove all affected seaweed, placed in a plastic bag and disposed of	The success of this treatment is very dependent upon good underwater visibility and ongoing monitoring	New Zealand	Field	Pannell and Coutts (2007)
D. vexillum	Shellfish aquaculture gear	Combination	Manual removal on site, removal of ascidians with pressurised water and contain runoff water, dry off gear	Controls <i>D. vexillum</i>	British Columbia, Canada	Commercial Field	BC Shellfish Growers Association (2013)
Botryllus schlosseri	Mussels	Spray mussel socks with hand held high pressure seawater	700 psi	Not effective, dislodged fragments viable for >18 days	St Peters Bay, Canada	Field	Paetzold and Davison (2010)

Fouler	Substrate	Description	Treatment	Effectiveness against target organism (eradication)	Location	Study type	Reference
B. schlosseri Botryllodes violaceous	Mussels	Out-of-water pressurized seawater spray	700 and 40 psi, spray every 3 weeks	High pressure spray of mussel close to harvest season (Nov) showed greatest reduction of target species biomass (85%)	St Peter Bay & Savage Harbour, Canada	Field	Arens <i>et al.</i> (2010)
Ciona savignyi	Submerged structures	In water exposure of structures to UV radiation from sunlight	Sunlight radiation	Adults seem to be affected, however, early life history phases (larvae) are resistant to high exposure levels	Puget Sound, Washington	Field	Olah (2001)
Eudistoma elongatum	Oysters	Heat treatment	Burning of fouled structure using a LPG burning torch	Limited to areas with full accessibility	New Zealand	Field	Morrisey <i>et al.</i> (2009)
Multiple species	Not specified	Underwater hydraulic pressure washing	Not tested on D. vexillum	Highly effective at removing all living organisms, it can be used only on hard surfaces (e.g. concrete, metal)	Washington	NA	Pleus <i>et al.</i> (2008)
Multiple species	Seabed or underwater structures	Suction	Not tested on D. vexillum	Not tested on ascidians, used in Hawaii to remove pest algae	Hawaii, USA	Field	Pleus <i>et al.</i> (2008)

#### 6.0 Novel methods in aquaculture

In areas where fouling problems are mainly caused by ascidians, standard practice by the aquaculture industry has been to use nets treated with antifouling containing copper-oxide (Crab Project 2013). These nets can be periodically removed from the cages and washed on shore in industrial net washers (Crab Project 2013). However, the use of copper-based coatings can negatively affect a farm's productivity by increasing mortality of the farmed species due to increased levels of dissolved copper in the water. In finfish aquaculture a higher risk of amoebic gill disease has been documented when copper treated nets were used (Douglas-Helders *et al.* 2003).

Recently developed methods such as the use of Aquagrid<sup>®</sup> and metal mesh nettings are being introduced to reduce the predation effect rather than the biofouling effect. The Aquagrid<sup>®</sup> doesn't require antifouling as it is cleaned with an underwater disc cleaner on a 3-4 week cycle. This new netting type is more expensive than traditional nylon nets and labour costs can be significantly higher due to the greater weight of the nets/cages (Crab Project 2013). The finfish aquaculture industry is investigating the possibility of placing mussels around the fish cages to provide "new" available substrate for ascidians to settle on and so prevent the settlement of other fouling organisms on the cages (Dürr and Watson 2009). This is because cages with low levels of fouling are easier and cheaper to clean. However, there is no indication of what type of mussel would be used as a "substrate" nor how the ongoing management of the "fouled" shellfish will be managed.

The use of special shellfish coatings (which are applied directly to shells), and epoxy based and slow release antifouling coatings (applied to cages and gear) have been also assessed by the aquaculture industry (De Nys and Ison, 2004; Svane *et al.* 2006). Although the use of antifouling coatings has potential, and applications and some commercial products have been developed along the way (e.g. PearlSafe<sup>®</sup> in Australia), several problems have been observed during testing. These include reduced efficiency due to unsuccessful application of the coating to nets, cracking of net samples after low water pressure washes; the coating peeling off soon after immersion and increased weight of coated gear (Dürr and Watson 2009). It has been also observed that the efficacy of these coatings varies between geographical locations and is seasonally dependant (De Nys and Ison 2004). Thus these technologies are still under development and require additional research to increase their efficacy before they can be utilised at a commercial scale.

Other methods for the control of biofouling in aquaculture currently being investigated include new materials for the construction of aquaculture cages (fouling-release coatings that are silicone based), use of electrical methods to generate biocides (i.e. chlorine radicals) or pH changes, adoption of polyculture techniques and development of new protocols for shellfish handling and immersion techniques (Crab Project 2013). These methods are still far from being applicable at commercial level and require further testing.

New methodologies are also being explored to control early stages of the ascidian life cycle with the aim of decreasing population growth (Bellas 2006). For example, the compound medetomidine can reduce *S. clava* larval motility (Willis and Woods 2011), while zinc pyrithione and potassium monopersulphonate triple salt based disinfectant used in the aquaculture industry (Virkon<sup>®</sup> Aquatic) have shown to decrease *C. intestinalis* larval settlement and overall biomass (Bellas 2005, Paetzold and Davison 2011). Recent experiments have focused on the use of natural compounds such as radicol and polygodial which can inhibit larval metamorphosis and increase mortality of the solitary ascidian *C. savignyi* (Cahill *et al.* 2012). Overall, there is still a need to develop highly-targeted compounds/antifouling agents, efficient methods of application (e.g. slow release underwater coatings and pellets) and better understanding of the treatments' effects and modes of action.

## 7.0 Case studies of ascidian management programs

#### 7.1 Holyhead Marina, Wales

In October 2009, a rapid response eradication program for *D. vexillum* began in Holyhead Harbour (Wales), led by the Countryside Council for Wales (CCW). The marina supports 520 pontoons ranging from 1.5 to 80 m<sup>2</sup> (Kleeman 2009). Initially plastic wrappings were used to isolate, smother and kill *D. vexillum* growing on the pontoons. At the end of 2009, permission was granted to use a chemical accelerant, calcium hypochlorite  $(Ca(ClO)_2)$ . This process was reported as an extremely labour intensive exercise, however, by May 2010 the entire marina was surveyed and it was determined to be clear of *D. vexillum* colonies. In August 2010, a monitoring survey revealed that small colonies of *D. vexillum* were present in the marina. Re-settlement of larvae released during the treatment procedure and difficulties experienced in sealing the bags around the numerous chains and ropes securing the pontoons to the seabed were considered the most likely reason for this re-colonisation in the marina. After this detection a second eradication program was planned, but in October 2010 a further survey revealed that an even larger area was re-infected. A new eradication program was proposed including the following improvements:

- 1. Increased labour to ensure that at least 60% of the submerged structures (i.e. pontoon and chains) in the marina and swinging moorings in the vicinity of the marina were "wrapped" and treated rather than treating a smaller "block" of pontoons at one time.
- 2. Treatment to occur during the coldest water temperatures to avoid larval dispersal.
- 3. Removal of as many "structures" as possible for air drying or bleach spraying.
- 4. Establishment of a detailed surveillance program for at least 2 years following treatment to detect any re-infection of the marina.

In January 2011, due to insufficient funds and time the improved eradication program was not implemented (Holt and Cordingley 2011). To date, *D. vexillum* at this location has not been eradicated. The total cost of this program was estimated to be around AUS \$679,423 ( $\sim$ £400,000) (Nimmo 2011).

#### 7.2 New Zealand

In October 2001, an unidentified Didemnid ascidian was recorded for the first time in New Zealand smothering wharf piles and moorings in the northern harbour of Shakespeare Bay. A heavily-fouled barge then translocated the ascidian to an international shipping port some 500 km south, near the heart of the New Zealand mussel industry (Coutts and Forrest 2007). The species was subsequently identified as *D. vexillum*, but its status as indigenous or non-indigenous was disputed. Nevertheless, its presence was regarded as a significant threat to the mussel industry because of its demonstrated invasiveness on artificial structures, and its ability to over-grow mussels. After initial detection, several delimiting surveys were required to determine the distribution of the species around the detection area. By July 2003, *D. vexillum* was well established on surrounding pylons, new pontoons, artificial seabed (artificial rip rap rock), other barges, recreational vessels and a salmon farm in the area. Despite the farm being relocated 35 km from the infestation point, *D. vexillum* was able to re-colonise the cages. The dispersal of this ascidian was considered to be mainly due to:

- 1. The effect of anthropogenic activities and vessel movement.
- 2. The assumption that had limited capacity to establish in natural environments.

In 2003, a benefit cost analysis was developed to determine control options for this ascidian (Sinner and Coutts 2003). A decision was taken to attempt eradication of the species from New Zealand as soon as possible. For this, several treatment methods were tested to eradicate *D. vexillum* from the seabed underneath infected barges and submerged structures including removal and air drying of structures and encapsulation of pylons, pontoons and vessel hulls (Pannell and Coutts 2007). Several methods to eradicate *D. vexillum* from the seabed were tested including the application of lime, concrete powder, hot water blasting and burning (i.e. torch) (Coutts and Forrest 2007). While some managed to kill *D. vexillum*, they were not considered economically feasible given the size of the infected area (10 000 m<sup>2</sup>). The use of the encapsulation method on the infected seabed with geotextile fabric was unsuccessful due to the gaps present underneath the fabric and lack of an adequate seal, allowing for water exchange and survival of *D. vexillum* (refer to Table 1 and 2 for details).

Many methods used were effective in eradicating *D. vexillum* from particular substrata while others were less effective. The overall combination of methods failed to completely eradicate this ascidian. Hence, many structures and treated areas gradually became re-infected.

The total cost for the labour and material used during the eradication effort at Shakespeare Bay was estimated to be AUS \$588,381 (NZ \$346,400) (Coutts and Forrest 2007).

## 8.0 Considerations for future responses

Irrespective of the method used, an eradication or control program relies on many factors which in many occasions cannot be controlled or are unknown. Careful analysis of the "problem" and consultation with stakeholders should be undertaken before implementation of any eradication and/or control program.

#### 8.1 Target area

The size of the area to be treated plays a major role in the final outcome of an eradication program. So far, there have been no successful eradication programs documented for *D. vexillum* or any other introduced ascidian. In Holyhead Marina, Wales, an eradication program was feasible mainly due to the size of the treated area (smaller as compared to other locations) being a localised infestation (6,138.88 m<sup>2</sup>) and the first detection of *D. vexillum* for Wales's waters. In contrast, eradication of *D. vexillum* in locations such as England and New Zealand has been more complex due to its wider distribution in those locations (Kleeman 2009). Similarly, in the Gulf of Mexico, USA, *D. perlucidum* is considered so widely distributed and well established that no eradication or control has been considered for this species (Gretchen Lambert 2013, pers. comm.).

#### 8.2 Habitat

So far there is no method available which targets only the species to be eradicated (in this case *D. perlucidum*). In New Zealand, the physical removal of *D. vexillum* from natural substrates also reduced the biomass of other native organisms (seaweeds) (Pannell and Coutts 2007). The use of physical barriers or mechanical devices might also affect antifouling coatings or increase physical damage to pylons or pontoons.

The use of chemicals, such as acetic acid, lime and bleach, especially in high concentrations, can negatively affect native organisms (including protected species) and the environment and their use must be considered in line with appropriate environmental and health legislation. The impact of chemicals in natural or highly-valued habitats needs to be carefully analysed and their use justified prior to use.

#### 8.3 Environmental conditions

In New Zealand, the success of most methods tested on *D. vexillum* was highly dependent on environmental conditions. For those methods where diving was required (e.g. physical removal) good underwater visibility was a major constraint. Additionally, in the case of methods involving isolation/encapsulation of structures (pylons, wharfs, pontoon, chains and moorings, seabed, etc.) factors such as tidal movement, currents and winds played a major role in keeping the wrap or cover in place, affecting whether anoxic conditions were achieved (Pannell and Coutts 2007).

#### 8.4 Temporal and geographic variations

Temporal and geographic variations in local environmental conditions are known to occur in the marine environment. These variations might impact on the expected success of an eradication program. It was determined that production of larvae by *D. vexillum* at Holyhead Marina decreased significantly below 8 °C. Thus the best chance of successful eradication was when

larvae production was minimal. This stresses the importance of regular monitoring to determine suitable times to conduct an eradication/control program for *D. perlucidum*.

Geographic variations in environmental conditions may also occur, even between locations separated by relatively short distances (e.g. hundreds of metres). These variations might influence the results of an eradication program despite use of the same methodologies and/or target species.

# 8.5 Substratum characteristics

Studies have shown that the morphology or characteristics of a structure's surface and presence of certain organisms (e.g. polychaete tubes and oysters) can puncture 25  $\mu$ m thick isolation covers (plastic bags) allowing water exchange and preventing the desired anoxic conditions. Uneven surface characteristics of pylons can also decrease the effectiveness of wrapped structures (Pannell and Coutts 2007).

# 8.6 Target species characteristics

As previously observed for *D. vexillum* and other introduced ascidians, in order to achieve a successful eradication program, information on the target species is mandatory. This information should consider seasonal changes in the target species (e.g. biomass, cover), mechanisms of propagation (e.g. sexual and asexual), reproductive characteristics (seasonal production of larvae and eggs, larvae survival) and substrate preferences of the larvae among others.

# 8.7 Decision making and response protocol

One of the most important lessons learned from control or eradication programs elsewhere is that for a program to be successful an incursion response protocol needs to be in place, as well as clear lines of communication and decision making. In New Zealand, when *D. vexillum* was first detected, there was reluctance by regulatory agencies, port companies and the aquaculture industry to take responsibility for managing this ascidian (Coutts and Forrest 2007). Furthermore, the local government and ports' funding to continue an eradication program was not secured, reflecting the uncertainty as to the likely success of the program. Finally, stakeholders like the mussel industry, were not prepared to take any responsibility due to the fear of setting a precedent for other biosecurity threats, especially because at the beginning there were not clear impacts of *D. vexillum* on the aquaculture industry (Coutts and Forrest 2007). Hence, it took more than six months to finalise the formulation of a management plan for this ascidian, by that time *D. vexillum* had spread within Shakespeare Bay beyond its confined point of initial incursion.

The absence of proven cost-effective incursion response tools available to the New Zealand authorities was another factor that contributed to the failure of the eradication attempt. Several methods were developed as a result of the invasion response which varied in effectiveness. Valuable time was also lost in trialling other methods allowing for re-infestation of treated areas and infestation of new areas. These problems were mainly the result of a lack of effective quality assurance (systems), insufficient funds and a lack of overall program management (Coutts and Forrest 2007).

#### 9.0 **Conclusions and recommendations**

This review identifies that key requirements for the management of the ascidian *D. perlucidum* are similar to previous observations on eradication and/or control attempts for other invasive ascidians (Myres *et al.* 2000, Coutts and Forrest 2007). These requirements include:

- 1. Baseline knowledge of the target species and "infected" environments
- 2. An effective monitoring regime and quarantine measures
- 3. Clear lines of authority and decision making
- 4. Availability and commitment of funds to achieve the program's goals including ongoing monitoring
- 5. Effective collaboration with stakeholders and public in general

Despite several attempts at eradicating introduced ascidians around the world, to date none has been successful. However, each attempt has significantly enhanced the development of treatments and the identification of key factors that affect the overall outcomes of any management program. The encapsulation method (with or without accelerant) is perhaps one of the most efficient methods and can be applied to a wide variety of substrates. So far, no chemical and mechanical method has been successful in eradicating *D. vexillum* from mussel and oyster farms and treatment has often resulted in high mortality of the farmed species. A comparison of cost, effectiveness, advantages and disadvantages for the methods to manage *D. perlucidum* is presented in Table 5.

Based on husbandry practices and farm environmental conditions a control program using a combination of methods (e.g. chemical spray + air dry) could be used to control *D. perlucidum's* fouling effects. However, eradication of *D. perlucidum* from natural environments is likely to affect native populations (e.g. seagrasses beds). This approach would have to be carefully considered, developed and evaluated by a multidisciplinary panel prior to any eradication attempt. Figure 3 presents an overall view of potential eradication methods considering infestation of *D. perlucidum* in high and low value assets.



Figure 3. General view of a plan to manage the *Didemnum perlucidum* in WA environments.

Based on previous management results for *D. vexillum* around the world and in light of the wide distribution of *D. perlucidum* in WA, a program to locally eradicate *D. perlucidum* could be attempted for specific areas of the State (e.g. diversity hot spots, aquaculture sites)following careful review and testing of eradication methods to be used. However, if other management measures are not put in place, such as strict quarantine and biofouling control, and ongoing monitoring programs, it is likely that re-colonisation would occur. If a local eradication program for *D. perlucidum* is to be attempted, the target area needs to be well delimited and relatively small for the program to have the highest probability of success. Winter-spring is when *D. perlucidum* colonies suffer a significant reduction in the area covered by colony and there is a decrease in colonies' larvae density, which may offer the best opportunity to attempt an eradication program.

Table 5.	Summary of previous fact chemicals (*)	main treatments: efficacy, cos ors, is indicated with the colou or remove fouled animals or	t and relative ırs green (fea plants in the	advantages and/or disadvantage asible), yellow (could be consider target area might be required.	es. The feasibility of each treatment, considering ed) and red (not feasible). Note that a permit to use
Traffic light	Treatment	Effectiveness against target organism (eradication)	Cost	Advantages	Disadvantages
Chemic	al				
	Freshwater	Reduces cover/biomass but not 100% effective against target <i>D. vexillum</i>	Low	Cheap Easily available	High mortality of farmed and non-farmed organisms No permit is required
	Acetic acid	Not effective against D. vexillum	Low	Accelerates the process when applied with the wrapping method	High mortality of farmed and non-farmed organisms Concentrated acetic acid is hazardous to work with*
				Proven to be one of the most effective chemical treatments	
	Bleach/Calcium oxide	Reduces cover/biomass but not 100% effective against target <i>D. vexillum</i>	Low	Effective in high concentrations Easy to apply	High mortality of farmed (mussels and oysters) and non- farmed organisms Hazardous to work with, can affect surrounding environment*
	Hydrated lime	Reduces cover/biomass but not 100% effective against target <i>D. vexillum</i>	Low	Effective to control <i>D. vexillum</i> on <i>C. gigas</i> oysters Easy to apply	Hazardous to work with Can be toxic to other marine organisms*
Physica	l/mechanical				
	Removal of submerged structures, air drying under direct sunlight (UV)	Not effective in NZ against target <i>D. vexillum</i>	Low	No equipment required – except to remove from water No training required	Not target specific – treatment causes mortality of target and non-target organisms Expensive to lift structures, collateral damage might occur Labour intensive High probability of fragment dislodgment, <i>D. vexillum</i> survives (>6 days)

Fisheries Research Report [Western Australia] No. 252, 2014

Traffic light	Treatment	Effectiveness against target organism (eradication)	Cost	Advantages	Disadvantages
	Handpicked (fouled seaweed)	Not effective against D. ve <i>xillum</i>	Medium	Target specific	Diving & training required Visibility dependant Large quantities of biomass may need to be disposed of Fragment dislodgment might occur
	Manual scrubbing of mussel lines	Not effective in NZ against D. ve <i>xillum</i>	Гом	Cheap	Not target specific – treatment causes mortality of target and non-target organisms Labour intensive Fragment dislodgment might occur
	Wrapping (encapsulation)	Not effective if the surface is not adequately wrapped	Medium-high (depends on materials and labour)	Easy and fast to apply No complex equipment is required Can be left <i>in situ</i> for long periods Silage covers are reusable	Not target specific – treatment causes mortality of target and non-target organisms Oysters and tubeworms can puncture a 25 µm plastic High probability of fragment dislodgment Large quantity of plastic needs to be removed and disposed off Mobile fouled organisms (crabs) might escape from the wrapping Not applicable to aquaculture Certain training of divers and frequent inspections are required Large quantities of detached material might be released into the water
	Seabed cover	Not effective against D. ve <i>xillum</i>	Medium-high (depends on materials and labour)	Applicable to specific and highly infected area	Requires trained staff and diving Highly dependent on currents and tidal changes Not target specific – treatment causes mortality of target and non-target organisms
	Pressurised seawater to clean mussel lines or vessel hulls (above water)	Not effective against <i>D.</i> vexillum or <i>B.</i> schlosseri	Low	No negative effects to farm's productivity (mussels)	Pressurised seawater to clean mussel lines or vessel hulls (above water)

		lity of target ant suctioned		t in an area
Disadvantages	Non target specific Applicable only to accessible areas (trucks) Applicable only to intertidal populations	Not target specific – treatment causes mortal and non-target organisms Fragments can be left behind Requires divers and well-engineered equipme Large containers/tanks are required to store water with fragments		The increase abundance of the control agent might negatively affect other native species
Advantages	Applicable to specific areas Cheap Easy to apply	Applicable to submerged structures Easy to apply Can be used in combination with other methods		Use of available resources (native species)
Cost	Low	Medium - High		Unknown
Effectiveness against target organism (eradication)	Not effective against Eudistoma elongatum	Not tested against ascidians		Not effective against <i>D.</i> <i>vexillum</i> or <i>C. intestinalis</i> Not enough information available
Treatment	Burning	Suction	ical	Control agent
Traffic light			Biolog	

It is recommended that the following actions are undertaken before attempting an eradication program for *D. perlucidum* in WA:

- 1. Develop a well-established network of experts and trained personnel to ensure that identification of *D. perlucidum* is fast and accurate.
- 2. Carry out additional surveys to determine the distribution of *D. perlucidum* in the State and evaluate, based on the target area, if eradication would be feasible.
- 3. Clearly identify which sectors would be negatively impacted by *D. perlucidum* and how.
- 4. Evaluate if sufficient knowledge on the biology of *D. perlucidum* in WA is available. Lack of understanding of the target species and assumptions on its behaviour could lead to an unsuccessful outcome for the program.
- 5. Collect as much information as possible (e.g. environmental conditions) about the area where eradication is planned.
- 6. Notify and establish efficient communication channels with stakeholders, government agencies and public prior to undertaking an eradication program.
- 7. Identify potential routes and mechanisms for the spread of *D. perlucidum* inter and intrastate. This would consider commercial and recreational vessels, and aquaculture traffic.
- 8. Identify if sufficient funds and/or resources will be available to complete the program and support necessary ongoing monitoring.
- 9. Identify disposal options for treated water and *D. perlucidum*/biofouling biomass.
- 10. Based on characteristics of the target area, identify and trial potential control/eradication methods.
- 11. Develop a site specific management and monitoring plan.

#### 10.0 References

- Auker LA (2010) The effect of *Didemnum vexillum* overgrowth on *Mytilus edulis* biology and ecology. PhD Dissertation. University of New Hampshire. USA. 125 pp.
- Arens CJ, Paetzold SC, Ramsay A, Davidson, J Hanson JM, Locke A (2010) Pressurized seawater as an antifouling treatment against the colonial ascidians *Botrylloides violaceous* and *Botryllus schlosseri* in mussel aquaculture. *Aquatic Invasions* 6(4): 465-476.
- Baptista MS, Rocha, RM, Kremer, LP, Silveira Jr N (2007). Ascidias (Chordata, Ascidicea) associadas ao cultivo de ostras: capacidad de colonizaciao de substratos naturais. Anais do VIII Congresso de Ecologia do Brasil.
- Bellas J (2005) Toxicity assessment of the antifouling compound zinc pyrithione using early developmental stages of the ascidian *Ciona intestinalis*. *Biofouling* 21: 289–296.
- Bellas J (2006) Comparative toxicity of alternative antifouling biocides on embryos and larvae of marine invertebrates. *Science of the Total Environment* 367: 573–585.
- BC Shellfish Growers Association (2013) *Didemnum* species factsheet. Available In: http://bcsga.ca/shellfish-rd/didemnum-species/
- Cahill P, Heasman K, Jeffs A, Kuhajek J, Mountfort D (2012) Preventing ascidian fouling in aquaculture: screening selected allelochemicals for anti-metamorphic properties in ascidian larvae. *Biofouling* 28(1): 39-49.
- Cahill P, Heasman K, Hickey A, Mountfort D, Jeffs A, Kuhajek J (2013) Screening for negative effects of candidate ascidian antifoulant compounds on a target aquaculture species, *Perna canaliculus* Gmelin. *Biofouling* 29(1): 29-37.
- Carman MR, Morris JA, Karney RC, Grunden DW (2010) An initial assessment of native and invasive ascidians in shellfish aquaculture of the North American east coast. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology* 26: 8-11.
- Carver CE, Chisholm A, Mallet AL (2003) Strategies to mitigate the impact of *Ciona intestinalis* (L.) biofouling on shellfish production. *Journal of Shellfish Research* 22(3): 621-631.
- Cook EJ, Davidson K, Fox C, Black K (2010) Monitoring and eradication of invasive and non-native species in aquaculture units. Report by Scottish Association for Marine Science to the Scottish Aquaculture Research Forum. Tender Ref. SARF087. 39 pp.
- Coutts A, Forrest BM (2007) Development and application of tools for incursion response: lessons learned from the management of the fouling pest *Didemnum vexillum*. *Journal of Experimental Biology and Ecology* 342: 154-162.
- Crab Project (2013) Collective research on aquaculture biofouling. In: http://www.crabproject.com/
- CSIRO (2003) Coastal Ocean temperature off WA. In: http://www.marine.csiro.au/~lband/AlanPearce/ regional/temp.html
- Denny CM (2008) Development of a method to reduce the spread of the ascidian *Didemnum vexillum* with aquaculture transfers. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 65: 805–810.
- De Nys R, Ison O (2004) Evaluation of antifouling products developed for the Australian pearl industry. FRDC Project No. 2000/254. Fisheries Research and Development Corporation and James Cook University, Australia. 94 pp.
- Dias G, Martin Delboni CG, Lembo Duarte LF (2008) Effects of competition on sexual and clonal reproduction of a ascidian: the importance of competitor identity. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. 362: 149-156.
- Douglas-Helders GM, Tan C, Carson J, Nowak BF (2003) Effects of copper-based antifouling treatment on the presence of *Neoparamoeba pemaquidensis* on nets and gills of reared Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Aquaculture* 221: 13-22.

- Dumont CP, Urriago JD, Abarca A, Gaymer CF, Thiel M (2009) The native rock shrimp *Rhynchocinetes typus* as a biological control of fouling in suspended scallop cultures. *Aquaculture* 292(1-2): 74-79.
- Dürr S, Watson D (2009) Biofouling and antifouling in aquaculture. Biofouling. Wiley-Blackwell. Pp 267-287.
- Felder DL, Camp DK (2009) Gulf of Mexico–Origins, Waters, and Biota. Biodiversity. Texas A&M Press, College Station. Texas. In: http://gulfbase.org/biogomx
- Fletcher LM, Forrest BM (2011) Induced spawning and culture techniques for the invasive ascidian *Didemnum vexillum* (Kott, 2002). *Aquatic Invasions* 6(4): 457-464.
- Gittenberger A, Sanamyan K, Monniot C (2012) World Register of Marine Species Database. Didemnidae. In: http://www.marinespecies.org/
- Genovesi P (2011) Eradication. In: Simberloff D, Rejmanek M. Encyclopedia of Biological Invasions. University of California Press. Pp 198-203.
- Golbuu Y, Bauman A, Kuartei J, Victor S (2005) The state of coral reef ecosystem of Palau. In: Waddell J (ed) The state of coral reef ecosystems of the United States and Pacific freely associated states. NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS NCCOS 11, NOAA/NCCOS Center for Coastal Monitoring and Assessment's Biogeography. Team Silver Spring. Maryland. Pp 488-507.
- HARC (2012) White crust ascidian-Galveston Bay field guide. In: http://www.galvbayinvasives.org/ Guide/Species/DidemnumPerlucidum.
- Holt RHF, Cordingley AP (2011) Eradication of the non-native carpet ascidian (sea squirt) *Didemnum vexillum* in Holyhead Harbour: Progress, methods and results to spring 2011. CCW Marine Monitoring Report No. 90. 112 pp.
- Kelly J, Maguire CM (2008) Didemnum species management plan. Prepared for NIEA and NPWS as part of Invasive Species Ireland. 12 pp.
- Kleeman SN (2009) *Didemnum vexillum* Feasibility of eradication and/or control. CCW Science Report No. 875, CCW, Bangor, Wales. 53 pp.
- Kott P (2001) The Australian Ascidiacea Part 4, Aplousobranchia, Didemnidae. *Memoirs of the Queensland Museum* 47: 1-407.
- Kremer LP (2008) Potencial invasor de *Didemnum perlucidum* (Tunicata, Ascidiacea) em um ambiente de cultivo de mexilhoes [Invasive potential of *Didemnum perlucidum* in an oyster farm environment]. MSc Dissertation. Universidad Federal do Paraná, Brazil, 67 pp.
- Kremer LP, Rocha RM, Roper JJ (2010) An experimental test of colonization ability in the potentially invasive *Didemnum perlucidum* (Tunicata, Ascidiacea). *Biological Invasions* 12: 1581-1590.
- Kremer LP, Rocha RM (2011) The role of *Didemnum perlucidum* F. Monniot, 1983 (Tunicata, Ascidiacea) in a marine fouling community. *Aquatic Invasions* 6(4): 441-449.
- Kress WJ, Erickson DL (2012) DNA Barcodes. Humana Press. 470 pp.
- Laing I, Bussell J, Somerwill K (2010) Project report: Assessment of the impacts of *Didemnum vexillum* and options for the management of the species in England. CEFAS. 62 pp.
- Lambert G (2002) Nonindigenous ascidians in tropical waters. Pacific Science 56: 291-298.
- Lambert (2003) Marine biodiversity of Guam: the Ascidiacea. Micronesica 35-36: 588-597.
- Lambert G (2009) Adventures of a sea squirt sleuth: unravelling the identity of *Didemnum vexillum*, a global ascidian invader. *Aquatic Invasions* 4: 5-28.
- Le Blanc N, Davison J, Tremblay R, McNivean M, Landry T (2007) The effect of antifouling treatments for the clubbed ascidian on the blue mussel, *Mytilus edulis. Aquaculture* 264: 205-213
- Lengyel NL, Collie JS, Valentine PC (2009) The invasive colonial ascidian *Didemnum vexillum* on Georges Bank ecological effects and genetic identification. *Aquatic Invasions* 4(1): 143-152

- Milstein A (2005) Polyculture in Aquaculture. Animal Breeding Abstracts. In: http://www.cabi.org/cabr eviews/?loadmodule=review&page=4051&reviewid=15194&site=167
- Minchin D, Sides E (2006) Appearance of a cryptogenic ascidian, a *Didemnum* sp fouling marina pontoons and leisure craft in Ireland. *Aquatic Invasions* 1: 143-147.
- Monniot F (1983) Ascidies littorales de Guadeloupe I. Didemnidae. *Bulletin du Museum National d'Histoire Naturelle* 4a ser. 5: 5-49.
- Monniot C, Monniot F, Laboute P (1991) Coral Reef Ascidians of New Caledonia. Orstrom Editions. Paris. 247 pp.
- Monniot C, Monniot F (1997) Ascidians collected in Tanzania. *Journal of East African Natural History* 86: 1-35.
- Morris Jr JA, Carman M (2012) Fragment reattachment, reproductive status, and health indicators of the invasive colonial tunicate *Didemnum vexillum* with implications for dispersal. *Biological Invasions* 14(10): 2133-2140.
- Morrisey D, Page M, Handley S, Middleton C, Schick R (2009) Biology and ecology of the introduced ascidian *Eudistoma elongatum*, and trails of potential control options. MAF Biosecurity New Zealand Technical Report No 2009/21. 63 pp.
- Myres JH, Simberloff D, Kuris AM, Carey JR (2000) Eradication revisited: dealing with exotic species. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*. 15: 316–320.
- Nimmo F, Cook EJ, Moxey AP, Hambrey J, Black K (2011) Cost benefit analysis of management options for *Didemnum vexillum* (carpet sea squirt) in Scotland. Report by Hambrey Consulting in association with the Scottish Association for Marine Science and Poseidon Aquatic Resource Management to the Scottish Government Tender Ref: Cr/2011/16.
- NIWA (2013) Invasive Sea Squirt (*Styela clava*) Fact Sheet. Available In: http://www.niwa.co.nz/coastsand-oceans/faq/invasive-sea-squirt-styela-clava-fact-sheet
- Olah A (2001) Effects of ultraviolet radiation on distribution of the solitary ascidian *Ciona savignyi*. Puget Sound Research, Puget Sound, USA.
- Paetzold SC, Davison J (2010) Viability of the golden star ascidian fragment after high-pressure water treatment. *Aquaculture* 303: 105-107.
- Paetzold SC, Davison J (2011) Aquaculture fouling: efficacy of potassium monopersulphonate triple salt based disinfectant (Virkon Aquatic) against *Ciona intestinalis. Biofouling* 6: 655-665.
- Pannell A, Coutts DM (2007) Treatment methods used to manage *Didemnum vexillum* in New Zealand. Biosecurity New Zealand. Technical Report
- Perry H (2012) *Didemnum perlucidum*. USGS Nonindigenous Aquatic Species Database, Gainesville, FL. http://nas.er.usgs.gov/queries/factsheet.aspx?SpeciesID=2389
- Pleus A, LeClair L, Schultz J, Lambert G (2008) 2007-09 Ascidian Management Plan. Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife. Aquatic Invasive Species Unit. In coordination with the Ascidian Response Advisory Committee.
- Rocha RM, Monniot F (1995) Taxonomic and ecological notes on some *Didemnum* species (Ascidiacea, Didemnidae) from Sao Sebastiao Channel, south-eastern Brazil. *Revista Brasileira de Biologia* 55: 639-649.
- Rocha RM, Faria SB, Moreno TR (2005) Ascidians from Bocas del Toro, Panama. I. Biodiversity. *Caribbean Journal of Science* 41: 600-612.
- Rocha RM, Kremer LP, Baptista MS, Metri R (2009) Bivalve cultures provide habitat for exotic ascidians in southern Brazil. *Aquatic Invasions* 4(1): 195-205.

- Rocha R (2011) Glossary of Tunicate Terminology. In: http://www.stri.si.edu/sites/taxonomy\_training/ future\_courses/Biological\_glossary\_Tunicates.html
- Roldheiser KC, Dunham A., Switzer SE, Pearce CM, Therriault TW (2012) Assessment of chemical treatments for controlling *Didemnum vexillum*, other biofouling, and predatory sea stars in Pacific oyster aquaculture. *Aquaculture* 364-365: 53-60.
- Smale D, Childs S (2011) The occurrence of a widespread marine invader, *Didemnum perlucidum* (Tunicata, Ascidiacea) in Western Australia. *Biological Invasions* 14: 1325-1330.
- Sinner J, Coutts ADM (2003) Benefit-cost analysis of management options for *Didemnum vexillum* in Shakespeare Bay. Cawthron Report Vol. 924. 24 pp.
- Svane I, Cheshire A, Barnett J (2006) Test of antifouling treatment on tuna fish cages in Boston Bay, Port Lincoln, South Australia. *Biofouling* 22: 209-219.
- Switzer SE, Therriault TW, Dunham A, Pearce CM (2011) Assessing potential control options for the invasive ascidian *Didemnum vexillum* in shellfish aquaculture. *Aquaculture* 318: 145-153.
- Valentine PC, Carman MR, Blackwood DS, Heffron EJ (2007) Ecological observations on the colonial ascidian Didemnum sp. in a New England tide pool habitat. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 342: 109-121.
- Vance T, Lauterbach L, Lenz M, Wahl M, Sanderson RA, Thomason JC (2009) Rapid invasion and ecological interactions of *Diplosoma listeranium* in the north Sea, U.K. Marine Biodiversity Records 2, e59 doi:10.1017/S1755267209000815.
- Willis K, Woods CMC (2011) Managing the invasive *Styela clava* populations; Inhibiting larval recruitment with medetomidine. *Aquatic Invasions* 6: 511-514.